IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 92, 803

FILED

PID J. WHITE

APR 22 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

On Petition for Review of a Decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal
Case No: 96-01973

RONALD SCHULTZ CITRUS COUNTY PROPERTY APPRAISER Petitioner

VS.

SUGARMILL WOODS, INC.
Respondent

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Clark A. Stillwell, Esquire
Florida Bar No. 202770
BRANNEN, STILLWELL & PERRIN, P.A.

Post Office Box 250

Inverness, FL 33451-0250 Telephone: (352) 726-6767

Facsimile: (352) 726-8283

Attorneys for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, Ronald Schultz, Citrus County Property Appraiser invokes the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court pursuant to Fla. R. App. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iii) to review a decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, Love PGI Partners, LP v. Schultz, (1998 WL 44481 5th (conformed copy attached), which expressly and directly conflicts DCA) with the prior decisions of this Court and other District Courts of Appeal. In the relevant sections of Love PGI (referenced therein as "Sugarmill Parcel," pages 8-12), the Fifth District reverses a Final Judgment of the Fifth Judicial Circuit, Citrus County, Florida, which held Sugarmill's 1994 recommenced cattle grazing activities were not "bona fide" as such were illegal uses under the LDC as agricultural land uses were not an authorized land use in the applicable land use district. The Fifth District holds that Sugarmill's cattle activities were not "development" as defined by §380.04 Fla. Stat., §163.3164(23) Fla. Stat., and §163.3201 Fla. Stat. Not constituting "development," such was not subject to regulation by LDC (zoning code), the use was legal and therefore bona fide.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision expressly states it disagrees with the holding in Robbins v. Yusem, 559 So. 2d 1185 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). In addition to the express declaration of conflict with the Third District; the Fifth DCA opinion conflicts this Court's opinion in Herzog v. Herzog, 346 So. 2d 56 (Fla. 1977), and Shaw v. Shaw, 334

So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1976) (See page 3 of the Sugarmill opinion) as the issue of "development" as regulated by Citrus County's Code was a disputed issue of fact resolved by the trial court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On or before March 31, 1994, SUGARMILL, timely filed an administrative request for agricultural classification. The 1994 SUGARMILL agricultural classification application reflected a parcel representing 4300 acres was used for cattle crazing and 1,000 acres for forestry activities. (R-118, 759-60). SCHULTZ granted the requested agricultural classification as to 733.57 acres of historical planted pines and 160 acres of historical pasture land and denied the remainder. SUGARMILL appealed the matter to the VAB. At the VAB hearing, the issues raised centered on "legitimacy" of the cattle grazing activity The VAB affirmed SCHULTZ position. under the LDC. (T-201,336)timely civil action was filed. The matter was tried in a non-jury trial before the Honorable Patricia Thomas, Circuit Judge. On June 5, 1996, the trial court entered its final judgment on behalf of SCHULTZ. Trial Court found the use was not a continuous non-conforming use given a lapse in time and made the following findings on the zoning issue:

14. Moreover, as the C.C.L.D.C. does not permit agricultural uses, such as grazing, to occur in areas designated as PRD, the application of Sugarmill was properly rejected as to the grazing activities. The agricultural classification is not permitted for a use which violates the applicable land use code, unless an exemption has been received to allow the illegal, non-conforming

use. Robbins v. Yusem, 559 So.2d 1185, 1187 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990).

Factually, the following are applicable:

On January 1, 1994, the land use designation of the SUGARMILL parcel under the CLUP and LDC was planned development-residential ("PDR"). Authorized land uses were residential, commercial and industrial. Agricultural uses were prohibited (T-44).

In late 1993, SUGARMILL notified SCHULTZ that in 1994 the SUGARMILL would be <u>re</u>commencing agricultural activities (R- 695-696) and desired agricultural classification on its parcel which for two (2) prior years had lacked such.

Testimony on this issue centered on the remarks of Mr. Vincent Cautero, former director of DDS and Mr. Gary Maidhof, Citrus County Land Use Planner who reported to Mr. Cautero. Cautero's key testimony stated:

- (a) That his staff concluded agricultural uses were permitted uses in the Planned Development - Residential district of the Appellants (T-22) per Mr. Maidhof's letter of July 7, 1994 (T-23);
- (b) On cross, Mr. Cautero stated the actual use of propertycattle grazing, fencing, etc. represented"development" (T-32) per the LDC;

That Appendix G to the LDC (a schedule of uses for each land use district) expressly states agricultural uses are prohibited in SUGARMILL's land use district of PDR (T-44); Notwithstanding, Appendix G, Mr. Cautero related that the basis for his department's letter of

July 7, 1994, was that the Appellant's agricultural use was taking place prior to adoption of the LDC and continuous.

Mr. Maidhof, a Citrus County land use planner, testified agricultural uses do <u>not</u> require a development permit as such was not "development" as defined by the LDC (T-65).

Mr. Maidhof disagreed with Mr. Cautero's testimony that the definition of "development" applied to agricultural uses under the LDC (T-75) Mr. Maidhof did admit that "agriculture" was defined in the LDC as the definition used in the F. A. C. absent a definition in the LDC. (T-79) controlled. Per Rule 9J-5.03 F.A.C., cattle grazing was an agricultural use. (T-80)

Maidhof admitted that in his determination of agriculture (cattle grazing) not being development he had <u>not</u> considered §380.06(4) Fla. Stat.

Mr. Maidhof indicated §2020, LDC defined when development orders were required. (T-85) The operative phrase was "development under the Code" and not development as defined by statute (see §380.04 Fla. Stat). (T-86) As to Appendix G, Mr. Maidhof noted it identified agriculture use as a specific land use (T-90), and such would be the definition from Rule 9J-5.03(4) F.A.C. (T-90). Significantly, Appendix G reflects that agriculture uses are prohibited in the PD-R land use district and there was no "ambiguity" in this section of the LDC. (T-91) Mr. Maidhof also noted the PDR district on its face did not authorize agricultural

uses (T-92) and land uses within any PDR district are controlled by the underlying master plan previously approved. In the Sugarmill master plan, it did <u>not</u> include agriculture. (T-93,94,97) Mr. Maidhof acknowledged that under the 1990 LDC the Appellant, Sugarmill, lacked a development permit for agricultural activities (T-102).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The pertinent standard for conflict jurisdiction per Article V, §3(b)(3) of the Constitution and Fla.R.App.Pro. 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(iv), is that the district court decision must expressly and directly conflict with the decision of another district court on the same question of law.

Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980); Ford Motor v. Laik's, 401 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1981). Generally, the rule is:

...that "conflict may exist either (1) where an announced rule of law conflicts with other appellate expressions of law, or (2) where a rule of law is applied to produce a different result in a case which involves "substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case." City of Jacksonville v. Florida First National Bank of Jacksonville, 339 So. 2d 632, 633 (Fla. 1976).

Herein, the standard is clearly met. The Fifth District decision states at page 10 "Schultz argues that Robbins v. Yusem, 559 So. 2d 1185 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), review denied, 569 So. 2d 1282 (Fla. 1990) is determinative.... Thus, as a matter of law, the court (trial) concluded agricultural use could not be considered bona fide because of the land's zoning. We disagree with Robbins,...." Both, the factual and legal issues in respective District Court Opinions were identical - a new

agricultural use, a determination that each was not a non-conforming use, a determination that such was contrary to the local zoning regulations, and like statutory law existing at the time of each opinion. The Third District finding that such use was not bona fide and the Fifth District findings that the use was not regulated by zoning thus was bona fide. The jurisdictional conflict test is met; the Fifth District acknowledges such on the face of its opinion. It should be noted that the Second District has adopted the Robbins rule to agricultural classifications and required compliance with zoning. See Williamson v. Kirby, 654 So. 2d 194 (Fla. App. 2nd Dist. 1994). Finally, the Fifth District opinion conflicts with this Court in its substitution of its opinion on the factual dispute as to whether the LDC regulates agricultural uses.

ARGUMENT

The trial court finding No. 14, expressly held the Sugarmill agricultural activities were prohibited in the Sugarmill land use district by LDC relying on Robbins. In Robbins, the land owner was engaged in a new silvaculture land activities (tree farming) in an industrial land use zone. The court held such was not bona fide as it was contrary to the applicable zoning laws. Similar to the matter herein, the land owner could not meet the standard of a non-conforming land use. Absent such a showing, Robbins denied the requested agricultural classification. The Court noted that it was mandated to

strictly interpret an agricultural classification provided by §193.461, Fla. Stat. and an "illegal" use was not a bonafide use. The Court concluded by stating:

...there is an eminently rational basis for the rule of law that we announce today. The determination of the Property Appraiser is reasonably related to legitimate legislative aims, while the order of dismissal entered by the trial court grants the taxpayer a substantial tax reduction based on an illegal use of land. No statute, judicial decision, or principle of equity permits us to sanction an illegal act by conferring upon the taxpayer substantial tax relief at the expense of other taxpayers.

The Fifth District opinion facially expressly disagrees with Robbins on the theory that agricultural uses are not "development" as defined by §380.04, Fla. Stat. The Court states at page 11 "it appears forestry and cattle raising activities are excluded from regulations of development" and additionally cites to §163.3194(5) Fla. Stat. The Fifth District Court states:

No Code adopted pursuant to chapter 163 can alter its intended impact. Comprehensive plans adopted pursuant to chapter 163 are intended to regulate and control "development," as defined by the statute and the Code. They are intended to have no impact on classification of lands as agricultural for ad valorem tax purposes, pursuant to section 193.3194(5).

The Fifth District misconstrues the relevant law and by such creates not only a jurisdictional conflict but also a large, new method to avoid ad valorem taxation. In both <u>Robbins</u> and herein, "development" as defined by §380.04 existed at the time of each decision. Since 1974, Chapter 163.00, Part II, Laws of Florida has also contained the same definition of "development". In 1990, when <u>Robbins</u> was decided not only was the definition of "development" the same but also §163.3194(5) Fla.

Stat. had existed since 1986.

The Fifth District Court opinion assumes that since the County's land use regulation were adopted pursuant to Chapter 163.00, Part II, that somehow such necessitates a different holding than Robbins. In Robbins, the zoning ordinance derived its authority from §125.01(h) Fla. Stat. and §163.00 et. seq. Fla. Stat. Herein the LDC was adopted pursuant to §125.01(h) Fla. Stat. and §163.3202 (b) Fla. Stat. The Fifth District's reliance on §163.3194(5) Fla. Stat. is misplaced; the CLUP did not render the agricultural land use invalid rather it was the LDC.

The record testimony clearly indicates Citrus County chose to regulate Agricultural land use. The exclusion of agricultural uses of §380.04 Fla. Stat. is only for the purposes of Chapter 380.00. See Fla. Stat. §380.04(4). Having elected to regulate agricultural uses, Citrus County expressly excluded such in the Sugarmill PD zoning. To commence such without a permit was illegal. The Fifth District Court of Appeals blanket exemption of agricultural uses from local government regulation is contrary to record and the County's authority per §125.01(h) Fla. Stat.

As noted the Fifth District holds the LDC does not "regulate" agricultural uses. The trial court held to the contrary. The LDC does define development per §380.04 Fla. Stat.; yet the same LDC includes (by reference) a definition for agriculture (Fla. Admin. Code R. 9J-5.03), has an agricultural land use district and precludes such in the Sugarmill district. The record reflects an evidentiary conflict on the definition of "development" between two (2) County land use planners per the LDC. Each stated Appendix "G" to the LDC (T-44) expressly

prohibits the agricultural uses in the Sugarmill District. The County LDC elected (per §380.04(4) Fla. Stat.) to regulate agriculture; the Fifth District Court errored in its contrary determination.

If the rationale of the Fifth District stands, all parcels of land - whether residential, commercial or whatever are now subject to a claim for agricultural classification. Further, agriculture uses are now not subject to local governmental land use regulation. When coupled with the established rule that an agricultural use need not be per se profitable. See Williamson: St. Joe Paper Co. v. Adkinson, 400 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); the holding results in a substantial expansion of Florida's agricultural classification. Finally, the Fifth District opinion abrogates any consideration of zoning and thus \$193.461(4)(a)(3) and \$193.461(4)(b), Fla. Stat. become irrelevant.

CONCLUSION

The jurisdictional conflict of whether the LDC does or does not regulate development and agricultural uses of the two (2) district court opinions is acknowledge by the Fifth District. The definition of "development" was and is the same at the time of each decision. Similarly, Fla. Stat. 163.3194(5) was in effect at the time of both decisions. The zoning code in Robbins, supra was adopted per \$125.01(h) and Chapter 163.00, Part II, Laws of Florida (1984). Similarly, the LDC was adopted under like regulatory authority. The respective district courts reached different conclusions on the same facts and the same questions of law. The legal standard for a jurisdictional conflict exists. Beyond this conflict, the Fifth DCA decision substitutes its judgment on the noted factual issue. That is internally inconsistent and contrary to this Court's holding cited in

Petitioner's argument summary. (page 2 hereof).

The significance of conflict between district courts is not to be minimized. It affects all Florida tax appraisers. In the area of land use law it affects all counties and all municipalities. Tax classifications have historically been treated strictly and narrowly. United States Gypsum Co. v. Green, 110 So. 2d 409 (Fla. 1959). The decision of the Fifth District reverses this established policy by opening all property statewide for an agricultural use classification regardless of any local zoning land use classification or regulation. Given the express conflict between districts and the statewide impacts to tax and land use issues created by the conflict, Petitioner respectfully asks this Court to accept jurisdiction.