IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
MAY 15 1998:

RONALD SCHULTZ, CITRUS COUNTY PROPERTY APPRAISER, and NORINE S. GILSTRAP, CITRUS COUNTY TAX COLLECTOR,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

Petitioner,

Case No. 92,803

v.
LOVE PGI PARTNERS, L.P.,
and SUGARMILL WOODS, INC.,

DCA CASE NO: 96-01973

Respondents.

ON REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENTS LOVE PGI PARTNERS, L.P. AND SUGARMILL WOODS, INC. BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Fenola T. Brown FBN 437069
Robert L. Rocke FBN 710342
ANNIS, MITCHELL, COCKEY,
EDWARDS & ROEHN, P.A.
Post Office Box 3433
Tampa, Florida 33601
(813) 229-3321
(813) 223-9067 (FAX)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction requires that the petitioner ("Schultz") demonstrate the existence of an express and direct conflict between opinions of the district courts of appeal on the same question of law. Schultz asserts here, that the conflict exists between the Fifth District's opinion in Love PGI Partners, L. P. v. Schultz, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D417 (Fla. 5th DCA February 6, 1998), and the opinion of the Third District in Robbins v. Yusem, 559 So. 2d 1185 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). In fact, those opinions do not conflict. Instead, they address legally and factually distinct issues and cannot, therefore, address the same question of law. Thus, there is no conflict nor any basis for this Court's jurisdiction.

The underlying premise of the Fifth District's opinion in <u>Love PGI</u> is the conclusion that the Citrus County Land Development Code ("Citrus County Code") has no application to Sugarmill's agricultural activities because those activities are not "development," as a matter of law. Therefore, the Fifth District did not address the issue of law decided in <u>Robbins</u> -- whether the legality of the use of property, under the applicable zoning code, was a factor to be considered in the determination of whether the agricultural activity was bona fide. Consequently, because the Fifth District did not reach the issue addressed in <u>Robbins</u>, the cases address factually distinct issues and there is no jurisdictional conflict. Art. V., Section 3(b)(3), <u>Fla. Const.</u> Schultz also asserts that the Third and Fifth District opinions conflict because they reached differing

results. That assertion is incorrect. The Fifth District did not misconstrue the application of Section 163.3194(5), Florida Statutes, or its application to "development."

It is clear that the Fifth District's opinion in <u>Love PGI</u> addresses a completely separate issue of law from that decided in <u>Robbins</u>. Therefore there is no conflict and there is no basis for this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction. Article V., Section 3(b)(3), <u>Florida Constitution</u>.

ARGUMENT

As a condition precedent to this Court's exercise of jurisdiction, Schultz must demonstrate the existence of an express and direct conflict between the Fifth District's opinion in Love PGI Partners, L.P. v. Schultz, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D417 (Fla. 5th DCA February 6, 1998) -- without resort to the underlying record, Paddock v. Chacko, 553 So. 2d 168 (Fla. 1989)¹ -- and the opinion of a different district court on the same question of law. Art. V., Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.² Schultz asserts that the conflict is with the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal in Robbins v. Yusem, 559 So. 2d 1185 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). To the contrary, while those opinions concern the subject of ad valorem taxation, they address legally and factually distinct issues and do not, therefore,

¹Schultz's references to the record testimony in his statement of the case and facts at pp. 3-5, and in his argument, at pp. 8-9, are erroneous and should be stricken.

²Schultz's reliance upon <u>City of Jacksonville v. Florida First National Bank of Jacksonville</u>, 339 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 1976), is misplaced. That case was decided under the pre-1980 Constitution.

address the same question of law. Thus, there is no conflict nor any basis for this Court's exercise of jurisdiction.

Despite this lack of express and direct conflict, Schultz asserts two bases for this Court's exercise of jurisdiction: express conflict arising out of the Fifth District's use of the phrase "[w]e disagree with Robbins" and conflict arising out of the purported "inconsistency" in the results of the Third and the Fifth District opinions. Neither supports this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction.

Schultz's first basis -- express conflict between the Third and Fifth District decisions -- arises out of his assertion that the Fifth District's statement -- "We disagree with Robbins" -- evidences conflict sufficient for this Court to invoke its discretionary jurisdiction. Schultz is wrong. Taplis v. State, 703 So. 2d 453, 454 (Fla. 1997) ("The petitioner's attempt to establish conflict arises out of a confusing and misplaced sentence in Dodd [v. State, . . ."). The Fifth District's disagreement with Robbins, like the misplaced sentence cited in Taplis, is not evidence of conflict.

The underlying premise of the Fifth District's opinion in <u>Love</u>

<u>PGI</u>, is the Court's conclusion that the Citrus County Code has no

³Schultz also alleges conflict with opinions of this Court based on his assertion that the trial court found Sugarmill's use of its land "illegal" and in order for the Fifth District to overturn that decision, it engaged in a re-weighing of the facts. That assertion is specious. The Fifth District did not "reweigh" the evidence; it interpreted the clear provisions of the Citrus County Code and Sections 193.461 and 380.04, Florida Statutes. Love PGI, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D 420. It is fundamental that the interpretation of a statute is a question of law to be determined by the Court. City of St. Petersburg v. Austin, 355 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978).

application to Sugarmill's agricultural activities because those activities do not constitute "development," as a matter of law, and thus the Citrus County Code can not be applied to Sugarmill's agricultural activities for the purposes deemed relevant in Robbins -- determining if the use is legal and thus bona fide. Love PGI, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D420. Specifically, the Fifth District concluded that forestry and cattle grazing -- because those activities are excluded expressly by the statute (and by the Citrus County Code4) from the definition of "development" -- those activities are "excluded from regulation of development pursuant to the statute and Code... and thus the Citrus County Code "...has no impact on the classification of lands as agricultural for ad valorem purposes...". <u>Id</u>. Since the Code cannot be applied to Sugarmill's activities, then the Fifth District did not even address the consideration deemed relevant in Robbins, whether under the Code the activities are legal and thus "bona fide." Robbins, 559 So. 2d at 1188.

Neither <u>Robbins</u> nor any other case that addressed the issue of zoning as a consideration under Section 193.461, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, ⁵ raised or dealt with the preliminary question of whether the agricultural activities at issue constituted "development." Instead, those cases, including Robbins, presume that the specific

⁴The Citrus County Code adopts the statutory definition of "development" as well as the statutory exclusions from that term. Consequently, the Fifth District's conclusions with respect to the statute apply equally to the Citrus County Code.

⁵Or any of the other zoning cases cited by Schultz including Wilkinson v. Kirby, 654 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), or <u>Davis v. St. Joe Paper Co.</u>, 652 So. 2d 907 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995).

agricultural use was subject to regulation (i.e., met the definition of "development") and proceed to apply the specific regulations at issue to determine if the use was legal (either as a permitted use or a non-conforming use) and thus "bona fide" under Section 193.461, Florida Statutes. Since Robbins did not address the question of law decided in Love PGI -- whether, as a threshold matter, the activities at issue constituted "development" -- then Robbins cannot conflict with the Fifth District's decision and there is no basis for this Court to invoke its discretionary jurisdiction. Art. V., Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Frenchman, Inc. v. Dept of Admin, Dept of Transp., 495 So. 2d 750 (Fla. 1986).

Schultz also asserts that this Court can exercise its discretionary jurisdiction because the opinions of the Third and Fifth District reach different results and thus conflict. While the concept of "conflict" involves the consideration of opinions that reach different results, those opinions must address the same question of law for that conflict to support this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. Art. V., Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. Here, the Fifth and the Third Districts did not decide the same question of law and thus, there can be no conflict as a matter of law. Nevertheless, Schultz still contends that conflict exists.

⁶Schultz also asserts that this Court should look to the result, i.e., the Third District's determination that the agricultural use was not bona fide and the Fifth District's conclusion that the agricultural use was bona fide, is without merit. The Florida Constitution requires that the conflict arise out of the question of law decided, not the result. Art. V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.

Schultz asserts that these differing opinions evidence "conflict" because the Fifth District misconstrued the law when it relied on Section 163.3194(5), Florida Statutes, as one of the bases for its opinion. However, the only "misconstruction" of the law is by Schultz. Schultz's "misconstruction" argument, like his other theories, relies on his selective application of the provisions of Chapter 163, Florida Statutes. Schultz relies on the Legislature's use of the phrase "comprehensive plan" in Section 163.3194(5), Florida Statutes, as support for his contention that Section 163.3194, Florida Statutes, is limited in its application to comprehensive plans and thus has no application to this proceeding, because the regulation at issue here is the Citrus County Code, the County's local land development regulation. Schultz then concludes that the Fifth District "misconstrued" the significance of that statute in reaching its decision and that this "misconstruction" will support a determination of conflict. Schultz's assertion is nothing more than his expression of displeasure with the sound reasoning of the Fifth District's decision. However, even if the Fifth District "misconstrued" the application of Section 163.3194(5), Florida Statutes, to this proceeding, such a "misconstruction" does not demonstrate conflict and certainly not conflict meriting this Court's invocation of its discretionary jurisdiction.

It is clear from the Fifth District's opinion that the basis for its conclusion -- that Sugarmill's agricultural activities are excluded from regulation as "development" -- is the plain language of Section 380.04(3)(e), <u>Florida Statutes</u>, and the plain language

of the Citrus County Code, both of which evidence the clear intent to exclude certain activities -- like Sugarmill's forestry and cattle grazing -- from regulation as "development" and thus from regulation by the Citrus County Code. Love PGI, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D420; §380.04(3)(e), Fla. Stat.; §1500, Citrus County Code. In fact, the Fifth District did not misconstrue the application of Section 163.3194(5), Florida Statutes, and it is Schultz's analysis that fails. First, Section 163.3194(5), Florida Statutes, is not the sole support for the Fifth District's Court's decision; the language of that statute merely reinforces the Court's interpretation of the plain language of Section 380.04, Florida Statutes ("It appears forestry and cattle raising activities are excluded from regulation of development pursuant to the statute and the Code. Section 163.3194(5) expressly states..." Love PGI, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D420). More importantly, however, is the fact that Section 163.3194(5), Florida Statutes, cannot be read -- as Schultz suggests -- in isolation from the remainder of Section 163.3194 or Chapter 163.3161, et seq., the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act ("Act"). When the Act is read as a whole, it is clear that Section 163.3194(5), Florida Statutes, applies to more than comprehensive plans; it applies "development." For example, Section 163.3194(1), Florida Statutes, states:

- 163.3194 Legal status of comprehensive plan.
- (1) (a) After a comprehensive plan, or element or portion thereof, has been adopted in conformity with this act, all development undertaken by, and all actions taken in regard to development orders by, governmental agencies in regard to land covered by such plan or element shall be consistent with such plan or element as adopted.

Section 163.3194(1), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (emphasis added).

In addition, Section 163.3202, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, states:

(1) Within 1 year after submission of its vested comprehensive plan for review pursuant to s. 163.3167(2), each county...shall adopt or amend and enforce land development regulations that are consistent with and implement their adopted comprehensive plan.

Section 163.3202(1), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added).

Clearly, the "regulation of development" contemplated under the Act goes beyond the mere application of the Citrus County Code. Instead, this "regulation of development" involves the adoption and implementation of land development regulations -- here, the Citrus County Code -- consistent with the adopted comprehensive plan which, under Section 163.3194(5), Florida Statutes, cannot affect the tax exempt status of lands classified as agricultural. §163.3202, Fla. Therefore, the Court did not "misconstrue" the application of Section 163.3194(5), Florida Statutes, to this matter. Instead, that statute reinforces the Court's conclusion that "...forestry and cattle raising activities are excluded from regulation of development pursuant to the statute and the [Citrus County] Code..., " Love PGI, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D420, by evidencing legislative intent supporting that contention. If comprehensive plans cannot affect the tax exempt status of agricultural lands, and land development regulations like the Citrus County Code must be consistent with those

plans, then land development regulations, like the Citrus County Code, cannot be used -- as Schultz asserts -- to conclude that Sugarmill's use of its property is "illegal" and thus not bona-fide. In short, the Fifth District did not "misconstrue" the law, it understood it. It is Schultz who misconstrues the law and this Court should deny his request for discretionary jurisdiction.

Finally, Schultz contends that the Fifth District's decision evidences that "zoning or land development regulations promulgated pursuant to Chapter 163.00, Laws of Florida (sic), are no longer a factor in [the] determination of a bona fide agricultural use" and that this "conclusion" creates conflict. Schultz's contention is unfounded.

First, the Fifth District did not reject the case law which concludes that zoning is a factor to be considered in, and is thus, relevant to, the issue of whether an agricultural use is "bona fide." In fact, the Court recognized that zoning could be one such consideration ("Zoning may be a consideration under the catchall 'other factors' provision in Section 193.461(3)(b)(7)...," Love PGI at D420). However, the Fifth District concluded that as a condition to the application of zoning -- as a factor -- the property appraiser must first determine that the activities under consideration constitute "development" and are thus subject to the zoning law. Here, the agricultural activities at hand did not constitute "development" -- because the activities fell within the express exclusion from that definition -- and thus the activities were not subject to the zoning regulations codified in the Citrus County Code

and those regulations could not be used to determine that Sugarmill's agricultural activities were not "bona fide." <u>Id</u>. Because the Fifth District's decision found the agricultural activities at issue to be outside the scope of the Code, it does not affect -- and thus does not conflict with -- the case law that addresses the issue of zoning under Section 193.461, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, including <u>Robbins</u>.

CONCLUSION

It is clear that the Fifth District's decision in Love PGI addresses a completely separate issue of law from that which was decided in Robbins. Therefore, there is no conflict and absent the existence of an express and direct conflict with the opinion of another district court of appeal, there is no basis for this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction. Art. V., Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.

⁷Schultz's argument fails because it is clear that Citrus County could have, under Chapter 125, Fla. Stat., limited the definition of "development" in the Citrus County Code to Section 380.04(1), Fla. Stat., which would have limited the exemptions and brought agricultural uses within its scope Section 125.01, Fla. Stat. Schultz's objection lies with the result reached, not with "conflict."